IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

 $\mathcal{W}$ 

MALCOLM BERNARD WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO. 82,811

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLA. BAR NO. 0513253

#

-iii-

# RULES

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.15126Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.300(b)25

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MALCOLM	BERNARD	WILLIAMS,	:
	:		
v.			:
STATE OF	FLORIDA	A.,	:
	Resp	ondent.	:
			:

CASE NO. 82,811

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal below, <u>Williams v. State</u>, 627 So.2d 524 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) (opinion on motion for rehearing or clarification). The district court affirmed Williams' conviction on the basis of its previous decision in <u>Rock v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). <u>Rock</u> is currently pending in this court, no. 82,530.

All proceedings in the trial court were before Duval County Circuit Judge Hudson Olliff. The record on appeal will be referred to as "R," Volumes II through VII of the transcript will be referred to as "T," and Volumes I through IV of the supplemental record will be referred to as "S."

-1-

### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Malcolm Williams, was charged with and convicted of burglary of a structure. The facts of the alleged burglary are that he took a used clothes dryer, worth \$5, from an outdoor fenced area at Michelle's Stuff and Such, a second-hand furniture and appliance store in Jacksonville (T-195,225-26).

On March 16, 1992,<sup>1</sup> in a multiple jury selection procedure, separate juries were chosen for codefendants Irron Bronner and Kareem Johnson and petitioner Williams. Bronner and Johnson were to be tried at the same time for multiple robberies, but each had a separate jury (T-52 et seq.). Williams' charges were completely unrelated to those against Bronner and Johnson. Assistant Public Defender Stephanie Owens represented both Johnson and petitioner Williams. Bronner and Johnson's juries were selected first. Williams' jury was selected third.

Counsel objected to the serial voir dire, on the grounds raised in her written motion and argued apparently in previous trials, but without new argument. The trial judge summarily denied the motion (T-58-59).

The jury selection process began with a single pool of prospective jurors. Forty prospective jurors were initially questioned (T-94-97). Three petit juries were selected from this group of 40; Williams' jury was selected last. Irron

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The transcript cover page erroneously says March 6; a new cover page with the correct date was submitted.

Bronner and Kareem Johnson were charged together with multiple counts of robbery. Bronner was represented by Refik Eler; Johnson by Stephanie Owens, who was also petitioner Williams' attorney. Bronner's jury was chosen first by Mr. Eler (T-154). Then Owens selected a jury for Kareem Johnson (T-158).

As the selection of Bronner's jury began, five jurors were excused for cause, four more or less by stipulation (some due to scheduling problems, some based on an inability to be fair) and one at the state's request (T-141-53). These jurors were never returned to the pool.

Bronner exercised nine peremptory strikes. The state excused one member of the panel. Seven jurors were selected to serve on Bronner's jury (T 151-55). The prospective jurors who had been peremptorily challenged were then returned to the jury box (T-155). Immediately after Bronner's jury was selected, without further questioning, Ms. Owens selected Johnson's jury from a different group of the venire. On Johnson's behalf, four prospective jurors and one alternate were peremptorily struck. The state excused one juror. Seven jurors were selected (T-155-58).

After further questioning by a different prosecutor than in the Bronner-Johnson trial and by Ms. Owens, a jury was selected for Williams' trial. The defense peremptorily struck six prospective jurors and one alternate. The state excused two jurors. After exhausting peremptories, the defense sought to excuse for cause Mrs. Yankowicz, who said she had seven times been the victim of purse-snatching. The challenge was

-3-

denied, and Mrs. Yankowicz served on the jury which heard Williams' trial. Of the seven prospective jurors peremptorily challenged by the defense, five (Egyed, Sudbury, Sandberg, Adams and Lux) had been previously challenged in the earlier jury selection (T-169-73).

While it took around 3-1/2 hours and 100 record pages to select the first two juries (T-59-159), it took only a half-hour and 10 pages to select Williams' (T-164-73).

<u>Trial</u>. At trial, Jacksonville Police Officer Thomas Racer testified he was on patrol when he saw petitioner, Malcolm Williams, two feet from the fence at the rear of Michelle's Stuff & Such, a second-hand furniture and appliance store. Williams was about to pick up the handles of a wheelbarrow, which held a clothes dryer (T-195-96). Racer made a U-turn and stopped Williams (T-197). Williams did not have any identification. Racer put him in the patrol car and read him his Miranda rights. Racer returned to the fenced area behind Michelle's. He found the chain still wrapped around the gate, but the lock was missing (T-198).

Racer followed the wheelbarrow track back inside the fenced area. It led to a spot where there were washers and dryers stored in a line. There was a disturbed area in the dirt; there appeared to have been a washer and dryer there (T-199). An objection to the last answer was sustained. There were footprints near the disturbed area. The dirt in the area was damp, because it had rained a few nights before; the dirt in the disturbed area was drier, as if something had been

-4-

sitting over it (T-200). Racer compared Williams' soles to the shoeprints and concluded that the shoes he was wearing had the same type of tread as the prints. An objection to this testimony was overruled. At that point, Racer arrested Williams (T-201-02).

On cross, Racer said he did not compare the size of the shoeprints with Williams' shoes (T-211). Racer did not find a broken lock, although he looked for one, and he did not find any type of burglary tool on Williams or in the area (T-214-15).

Michelle Doughtery, the store owner, testified she closed the business that day between 5 and 6:00 p.m. The gate to the fenced area was closed, with a chain wrapped around it and the biggest Masterlock available on the chain. At the time, she had three Kenmore dryers and two Maytag washing machines in the fenced area. She had bought them all at the same time, intending to resell them (T-221-22).

An officer came the next day and told her about the burglary. One dryer was missing, the one recovered was on its side, and the lock to the gate was gone (T-222). They are required by law to keep records of the serial numbers of the machines they have, but she did not know the serial number of this dryer. Nevertheless, she identified the dryer as one of hers, which she has since sold (T-223,225). On cross, Doughtery said she purchased the dryer for \$5. She did not check the serial number (T-225-26).

-5-

After Doughtery was excused, the state recalled her to ask if she had given Williams permission to enter the business; she said no. Defense counsel asked if the lock had been missing for a long time and whether the gate were open to the public. The state's objections to both questions were sustained (T-233-34).

There were no witnesses for the defense.

April 16, Williams was sentenced to 9 years in prison as an habitual felony offender, with credit for 137 days time served (R-97-100). His recommended guidelines range was 2-1/2to 3-1/2 years, the permitted range, 1 - 4-1/2 years (R-107).

Notice of appeal was timely, the district court affirmed, and this appeal follows.

### III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in consolidating petitioner Williams' case with two other defendants' cases for jury selection over defense counsel's objection to representing multiple clients during jury selection. An accused is entitled to conflict-free representation at every critical stage of the prosecution, including jury selection.

Because the jury selection procedure required petitioner's counsel to choose juries for two defendants from one venire at one time, counsel was placed in the difficult position of having to consider the effect of her actions in one defendant's jury selection on the other defendant she represented. Foreseeing the potential for conflict, counsel objected to the procedure. Based upon counsel's representations regarding a potential conflict, the trial court should have allowed Williams' jury selection to proceed separately or conducted further inquiry regarding the asserted conflict. Because reversal is automatic when an objection is made at trial, the district court erred in requiring a defendant to demonstrate actual conflict to obtain reversal on appeal. <u>See Rock</u>, <u>infra</u>. Williams therefor is entitled to a new trial.

In addition to burdening defense counsel with a conflict of interest, the simultaneous jury selection method was an improper and unauthorized consolidation of a crucial stage of Williams' trial. Requiring Williams to share a venire panel with other defendants, to rely on the questioning of the panel by an attorney other than his own, and to expose his jurors to

-7-

the crimes of others infringed his rights to due process and a fair and impartial jury.

#### IV ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

PETITIONER WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFEC-TIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DUE PROCESS, AND A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY WHEN THE TRIAL COURT OVERRULED HIS OBJECTION TO CONSOLIDATING JURY SELECTION FOR HIS CASE AND THE CASES OF TWO OTHER DEFENDANTS, ONE OF WHOM WAS ALSO REPRESENTED BY PETITION-ER'S COUNSEL.

The trial court employed a serial jury selection process whereby petitioner Williams' jury and juries for two other defendants were selected from the same venire panel. Williams' counsel, who represented two of the three defendants, objected to the consolidated jury selection procedure, asserting she could not adequately represent Williams because she would have a conflict of interests, due to "conflicting defenses and issues" (R-67). Defense counsel also asserted the procedure violated Williams' constitutional rights to due process and a fair and impartial jury. The trial judge summarily denied the motion (T-59). In <u>Rock</u>, the district court approved a similar ruling by the trial court, concluding the record failed to demonstrate an actual conflict of interest. 622 So. 2d at 489. The court followed Rock in its decision here.

Both the circuit and district courts' rulings were in error. Once defense counsel advised the trial court she could not effectively represent both her clients' interests during the consolidated proceeding, the trial court should have permitted Williams' jury selection to proceed separately. Because there was an objection below, Williams was entitled to

-9-

reversal on appeal, and the district court erred in requiring him to show actual conflict or prejudice.

In addition to burdening defense counsel with a conflict of interest, the simultaneous jury selection method was an improper and unauthorized consolidation of a crucial stage of Williams' trial. Requiring Williams to share a venire panel with other defendants, to rely on the questioning of the panel by an attorney other than his own, and to expose his jurors to the crimes of others infringed his rights to due process and a fair and impartial jury.

> A. THE CONSOLIDATED JURY SELECTION PROCE-DURE VIOLATED PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

1. An Accused is Entitled to Conflict-Free Representation at Every Critical Stage of Trial, Including Jury Selection.

An accused is entitled to counsel at every critical stage of a prosecution, <u>Coleman v. Alabama</u>, 399 U.S. 1, 90 S.Ct. 1999, 26 L.Ed.2d 387 (1970); <u>United States v. Wade</u>, 388 U.S. 218, 87 S.Ct. 1926, 18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967), which in every case includes trial, <u>Argersinger v. Hamlin</u>, 407 U.S. 25, 92 S.Ct. 2006, 32 L.Ed.2d 530 (1972); <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963), which begins with jury selection. <u>State v. Singletary</u>, 549 So.2d 996, 998 (Fla. 1989); <u>State v. Melendez</u>, 244 So.2d 137, 139 (Fla. 1971); <u>Peri</u> <u>v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 1021, 1024 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)("it is axiomatic that the selection of a jury in a criminal case is a

-10-

critical stage of any trial"), <u>review denied</u>, 436 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1983).

Florida courts have long recognized the importance of jury selection in an accused's jury trial. <u>Singletary</u>, 549 So.2d at 998-99 (jury selection so important judge's presence cannot be waived by anyone); <u>Lavado v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 1322, 1323-24 (Fla. 1986), <u>adopting dissent in Lavado v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 917, 919-921 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985)(meaningful voir dire must include questions about jurors' attitudes toward the defense theory); <u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982)(reversible error to conduct jury selection in defendant's involuntary absence without waiver); <u>Cross v. State</u>, 89 Fla. 212, 216, 103 So. 636 (Fla. 1925)(wide latitude in questioning permitted); <u>Gosha v. State</u>, 534 So.2d 912 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)(reversible error to impose unreasonable time limits on voir dire).

As this Court said in Francis:

The exercise of peremptory challenges has been held to be essential to the fairness of trial by jury and has been described as one of the most important rights secured to a defendant. <u>Pointer v. United States</u>, 151 U.S. 396, 410, 38 L.Ed. 2d 208 (1894); <u>Lewis v. United States</u>, 146 U.S. 370, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed. 1011 (1892). It is an arbitrary and capricious right which must be exercised freely to accomplish its purpose.

413 So.2d at 1178-79.

One aspect of the right to counsel guaranteed under our state and federal constitutions is the right to effective counsel, which includes the right to an attorney whose loyalty is not divided between clients with competing interests. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980); Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 480, 98 S.Ct. 1173, 1182, 55 L.Ed.2d 425 (1978); Baker v. State, 202 So.2d 563, 565 (Fla. 1967). Counsel's allegiance to a client must remain unaffected by competing obligations to other clients. Barclay v. Wainwright, 444 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1984).

A conflict of interests occurs when one defendant stands to gain by counsel pursuing some strategy that is damaging to the cause of another client whom counsel also represents. <u>See</u> <u>Foxworth v. Wainwright</u>, 516 F.2d 1072, 1076 (5th Cir. 1975). Ordinarily, such conflict arises where a defense attorney represents codefendants during the same proceeding. <u>See Cuyler; Holloway; Baker</u>. Conflict also may arise where a defense attorney represents several persons who are not codefendants but whose interests are nonetheless adverse. <u>See Bellows v.</u> <u>State</u>, 508 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987)(finding conflict where public defender represented defendant and state's key witness). The key is not whether the defendants are codefendants but whether defense counsel must serve a "dual and adverse stewardship." <u>Id</u>. at 1332.

> 2. An Accused is Deprived of Effective Assistance of Counsel Whenever a Trial Judge Requires Dual Representation Over Objection Or the Record Shows Actual Conflict.

In Florida, the rules governing challenges to dual representation of conflicting interests were established in a trio of supreme court cases: Baker v. State, 202 So.2d 563 (Fla.

-12-

1967), <u>Belton v. State</u>, 217 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1968), and <u>State v.</u> Youngblood, 217 So.2d 98, 101 (Fla. 1968).

In the leading case, <u>Baker</u>, the trial court appointed two members of the bar to jointly represent codefendants in a first-degree murder case. The trial court overruled the attorneys' timely objection to the joint representation, and the defendants went to trial each represented by both attorneys. The court held the joint representation denied the defendants the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the federal and state constitutions. In so holding, this court relied on <u>Glasser v. United States</u>, 315 U.S. 60, 62 S.Ct. 457, 86 L.Ed. 680 (1942), in which the U.S. Supreme Court held

> the `assistance of counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment contemplates that such assistance be untrammeled and unimpaired by a court order requiring that one lawyer shall simultaneously represent conflicting interests. If the right to the assistance of counsel means less than this, a valued constitutional safeguard is substantially impaired.

<u>Baker</u>, 202 So.2d at 565 (quoting 315 U.S. at 70). Observing that other state courts had reached the same conclusion as <u>Glasser</u>, the court said:

> Each of the cited decisions held that an appointment under which one or more attorneys were required to represent jointly two co-defendants denied the defendants effective representation of counsel. The basis for the holdings was that such an appointment denied the individual defendant representation by an attorney who could act for his best interest without regard to the effect of such action on the interest of the co-defendant. The interests and defenses of most co-defendants are conflicting. Evidence, strategy and defenses which will

benefit one co-defendant usually are detrimental to the other. It is this conflict and inconsistency of position which makes it impossible for the same counsel to effectively represent two or more co-defendants simultaneously.

## Id. at 565-66.

Having concluded the defendants were entitled to separate counsel, the court addressed the state's contention that the error was harmless. Turning again to Glasser, the Court said:

> "The right to have the assistance of counsel is too fundamental and absolute to allow courts to indulge in nice calculations as to the amount of prejudice arising from its denial."

<u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Glasser</u>, 315 U.S. at 76). The court thus held it was unnecessary for the defendants to show they were prejudiced by the denial of separate counsel. Id.

In <u>Belton</u>, where, unlike <u>Baker</u>, the defendants did not object to the joint representation, the Court explained and amplified its prior holding:

> [In Baker] [w]e held that it was error to refuse the request for separate counsel. Despite the insertion of the obiter . . . regarding the "usual" presence of prejudice or conflict, the Baker judgment really stands for no more than that error was committed when the trial judge refused the request for separate counsel at the begin-ning of the trial. If a defendant is indigent and such a request is made it should be granted unless it can be demonstrated to the trial judge that no prejudice will result or that no conflict will arise as an incident of the joint representation. Without such a request being made, failure to appoint separate counsel will not be held to constitute error unless it is demonstrated that prejudice results from such failure. Error does not occur because of joint counsel in the absence of a

request for separate counsel or a showing of prejudice or conflict of interest.

<u>Belton</u>, 217 So.2d at 98 (emphasis added). The court concluded there was no reversible error as "there was neither a request for separate counsel nor a showing of prejudice." Id.

In <u>Youngblood</u>, decided the same day, the court restated the rule with greater precision:

(1) When a joint defendant requests separate counsel, his request should be granted unless the state can clearly demonstrate for the record that prejudice will not result from a denial. If request is made and the record shows prejudice from denial or is silent on the subject, such denial will constitute reversible error.

(2) If no request for separate counsel is made and the Court permits trial of joint defendants with single counsel, then reversible error does not occur unless the record reveals that some prejudice results from the failure to appoint separate lawyers for each defendant.

217 So.2d at 101.

The rules fashioned by the Florida Supreme Court in the <u>Baker</u> line of cases anticipated the United States Supreme Court's decision a decade later in <u>Holloway v. Arkansas</u>, 435 U.S. 475, 98 S.Ct. 1173, 55 L.Ed.2d 426 (1978). In <u>Holloway</u>, a public defender was appointed to represent three defendants charged with rape and robbery and whose cases were consolidated for trial. Two weeks before trial, defense counsel requested separate counsel for each defendant because "there was a possibility of a conflict of interest in each of their cases." The motion was denied. On the day of trial, defense counsel renewed the motion "on the grounds that one or two of the

-15-

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