IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By Chief Deputy Clerk

MALCOLM BERNARD WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 82,811

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF TALLAHASSEE CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0714224

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

In <u>United States v. Maraj</u>, 947 F.2d 520 (1st Cir. 1991), the court stated:

While we have been unable to find any cases squarely on point, we think that, in the absence of some founded claim of prejudice on the part of a specific juror or jurors, the mere fact that defense counsel appears before the venire and chooses juries back to back while representing defendants in two different cases will not support a claim of generalized unfairness. See United States v. Graham, 739

A request for judicial notice and motion to supplement the record with this document has been filed in this Court in the Rock case, case no. 82,811. Oral argument is set in Rock for May $\overline{3}$, 1994.

F.2d 351, 352 (8th Cir. 1984)("In the absence of some showing of actual prejudice . . . we have repeatedly rejected the argument that a juror's service in prior involving the same attorneys or witnesses supports a per se theory of implied bias.")(citing other Eighth Circuit cases); United States v. Riebschlaeger, 528 F.2d 1031, 1032-33 (5th Cir.)(per curiam)(the fact that many of the jurors served in other criminal cases which defense counsel had unsuccessfully defended did not taint venire), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 288, 97 S. Ct. 86, 50 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1976); United States v. Lena, 497 F.Supp. 1352, 1363 (W.D. Pa. 1980)(similar; same prosecuting attorney involved in both cases), aff'd, 649 F.2d 861 (3d Cir. 1981); see also United States v. Carranza, 583 F.2d 25, 28 (1st Cir. 1978)(absent a specific showing of bias or prejudice, "the fact that juror sat in a prior case involving the same government witnesses and the same type of crime will not be grounds for disqualification per se unless the defendant is charged with an offense arising from the same transaction"); Johnson v. State, 484 F.2d 309, 310 (8th Cir.) (per curiam) (similar), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 1039, 94 S. Ct. 539, 38 L. Ed. 2d 329 (1973). Jurors, after all, do not expect that a lawyer will represent only one client in his or her lifetime.

In these days of crowded dockets and severe budgetary constraints, busy trial courts are under efficient considerable pressure to develop more methods of operation. One such method which has gained currency is multiple empanelment. Instead of selecting juries only on the eve of actual trial, federal district judges often select four or five juries at a crack, calling the jurors to serve as the Properly handled, the adverse cases are reached. effects of back-to-back empanelment are negligible. By the same token, the economies of the practice are We encourage use of the method when significant. feasible, much as we applaud other efforts at judicial economy so long as they can be implemented without diluting the parties' rights to a fair trial.

Id. at 524, 525. In the same vein, the First Circuit Court of
Appeals stated in <u>United States v. Quesada-Bonilla</u>, 952 F.2d 597,
599 (1st Cir. 1991), that:

We are aware of no authority that prohibits a court, as a general matter, from empaneling juries for several cases in a single proceeding or using the same jurors in several cases, whether or not the defendants

in those separate cases use the same lawyers. practices are fairly common in several judicial districts. See, e.g., United States v. Franklin, 700 F.2d 1241, 1242 (10th Cir. 1983); see also United States v. Maraj, 947 F.2d 520, 523-35 (1st Cir. 1991). And, we see no reason to challenge, or to depart from that circuit authority. See also United States v. Graham, 739 352 (8th Cir. 1984) (absent showing of F.2d 351, "actual prejudice on the part of the challenged jurors, we have repeatedly rejected the argument that a juror's service in prior cases involving the same attorneys or witnesses supports a per se theory of implied bias"); United States v. Riebschlaeger, 528 F.2d 1031, 1032-33 (5th Cir.)(per curiam), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 828, 92 S. Ct. 86, 50 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1976)(jurors' service in other cases with same defense counsel and same prosecutor and resulting in convictions did not require the court to "quash" entire jury panel; "concept of implied bias" rejected).

B. THE JURY SELECTION PROCEDURE IN THIS CASE IN NO WAY IMPAIRED PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Petitioner first argues that the multiple jury selection process deprived him of effective assistance of counsel because defense counsel represented him and one other unrelated defendant at jury selection. Specifically, Petitioner argues that ". . . where counsel advises the court there is a possibility of a conflict of interests, the court must either appoint separate counsel or conduct further inquiry. Where the trial court fails to do either of these, reversal is automatic." (Petitioner's brief, p. 19).

As a preliminary matter, Respondent would note that Petitioner's boilerplate citations regarding critical stages of proceedings, the right to conflict-free counsel, etc. fail to show the presence of any conflict or denial of counsel whatsoever in this or any other multiple jury selection case. There has

been no showing in this case that there was any actual or potential conflict of interest whereby counsel's divided loyalty damaged the interests of one defendant while benefitting the other. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced whatsoever by this procedure.

Petitioner argued on appeal that although generally claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are not appropriate for direct appeal, the error in this case was plain from the record, citing, inter alia, cites <u>Sobel v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1983). (initial brief of Appellant, p. 20). The State countered that the issue could not be raised for the first time on direct appeal as the exceptions to the general rule did not apply. The district court apparently agreed with the State as the appellate opinion <u>does not address ineffective assistance of counsel</u>. As ineffective assistance was not addressed or ruled on below, this Court should likewise refuse to address it.

Petitioner cites a host of cases involving one attorney representing two codefendants during the guilt and penalty phases of trial for the novel proposition that when one attorney represents two <u>unrelated</u> defendants during <u>jury selection</u> only, per se reversible error occurs. These cases do not support Petitioner's position as it relates to jury selection.

Petitioner also cites <u>Baker v. State</u>, 202 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1967)(joint representation of codefendants <u>at trial</u>); <u>Belton v. State</u>, 217 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1968)(joint representation of codefendants <u>at trial</u>); and <u>State v. Youngblood</u>, 217 So. 2d 98

(Fla. 1968)(joint representation of codefendants <u>at trial</u>). This Court held in <u>Belton</u> and <u>Youngblood</u> that a failure to appoint separate counsel was not error absent a showing of prejudice or conflict of interests and that prejudice does not presumptively follow joint representation.

The other cases cited by Petitioner in this regard are also distinguishable: Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475 (1978)(joint representation of codefendants at trial); Foster v. State, 387 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 1980)(counsel also represented codefendant who testified for the State against Foster); Babb v. Edwards, 412 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1982)(representation of adverse codefendants by same public defender office). None of these cases are relevant to the issue before this Court.

Petitioner argues that the District Court erred in requiring him to show actual conflict or prejudice to obtain a reversal on appeal. The district court stated:

In fact, the holding in <u>Babb</u> was based solely on this Court's interpretation of §27.53(3), F.S. (Supp. 1980). The statute has been changed, and now states that

If at any time during the representation of two or more indigents the public defender shall determine that the interests of the accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot be counseled by the public defender or his staff without conflict of interest, or that none can be counseled by the public defender or his staff because of conflict of interest, it shall be his duty to move the court to appoint other counsel. The court may appoint one or more members of the Florida Bar, who are in no way affiliated with the public defender, in his capacity as such, or in his private practice, to represent those accused. (emphasis supplied).

In order to be entitled to a reversal, an appellant have to demonstrate actual conflict Foster v. State, 387 So. 2d 344 (Fla. prejudice. Actual conflict exists if counsel's course of action is affected by conflicting representation, i.e., where there is divided loyalty with the result that a course of action beneficial to one client would be damaging to another client. Main v. State, 557 So. 2d 946, 937 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). To show actual conflict, one must show that a lawyer not laboring under the claimed conflict could have employed a different defense strategy and thereby benefited the defense. McCrae v. State, 510 So. 2d 874, 877 n. 1 (Fla. 1987). Only when such an actual conflict is shown to have affected the defense is there prejudicial denial of the right to counsel. Id.

Rock, supra at 489.

In the present case, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate even a scintilla of conflict or prejudice or that there was ever a risk of such. The District Court below correctly held that "[i]n order to be entitled to a reversal, an appellant would have to demonstrate actual conflict or prejudice" (Rock, supra at 489), citing Foster v. State, supra.

In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 32, 33 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the Third District stated:

Defendant Johnson argues that the trial court committed reversible error in consolidating three cases for simultaneous jury selection. Assuming, without deciding that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in consolidating these cases for jury selection, see United States v. Quesada-Bonilla, 952 F.2d 597, 599 (1st Cir. 1991), and cases cited therein, we find that the trial court erred in overruling defense counsel's objection to representing multiple clients during jury selection. "To deny a motion for separate representation, where a risk of conflicting interests exists, is reversible error." Foster v. State, 387 So. 2d 344, 345 (Fla. 1980); Belton v. State, 217 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1968); Baker

v. State, 202 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1967); Bellows v. State, 508 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Washington v. State, 419 So. 2d 1100, 1100 n. 2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); see Main v. State, 557 So. 2d 946 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Defendant's counsel stated his objection to representing all three defendants in the consolidated jury selection, asserting that his clients interests conflicted. The record demonstrates a risk of conflict. Foster; Main; Bellows. Thus, we hold that the court erred in overruling the objection. (emphasis supplied).

In contrast, the record in this case demonstrates no risk of conflict as each defendant was charged with a separate and distinct crime. There is nothing to show that any of the defendants were disadvantaged or that any of the defendants failed to receive a fair trial before an impartial jury.

The District Court in Rock noted in footnote 3 of the opinion:

As examples of cases in which the record demonstrated the risk of conflict, the Johnson court cited Main v. State, 557 So. 2d 946 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), a case in which the same attorney was compelled to represent in the same trial two codefendants charged with sale of marijuana to a minor, and a factual issue existed as to which of the codefendants sold the drugs. The Johnson court also cited Bellows v. State, 508 So. 2d 1130 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), where the same attorney was compelled to represent in separate cases two defendants, one of whom was the state's key witness against the other.

Rock, supra at 489.

Petitioner's jury selection never presented a risk of conflict. Petitioner asserts that "[b]oth Johnson and the instant case demonstrate a 'risk of conflict' because defense counsel in both cases stated to the court that there was a

possibility of conflict." (Petitioner's brief, p. 23). The mere saying of a thing does not make it so. Petitioner's perception that a risk of conflict existed is nothing more than sheer speculation and conjecture. This Court has held that reversible error cannot be predicated on conjecture. <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1974), <u>cert. denied</u>, 428 U.S. 911 (1976); <u>Ford v. Wainwright</u>, 451 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1984).

In sum, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the District Court used the wrong standard in reviewing his claim of attorney conflict or that a risk of such conflict even existed in this case.

C. THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS IN THIS CASE WAS NOT AN IMPROPER CONSOLIDATION OF A CRUCIAL STAGE OF PETITIONER'S TRIAL.

Petitioner contends that the multiple jury selection procedure constitutes an improper "consolidation", however, the procedure is not prohibited by statute or by the Rules of Criminal Procedure. Serial voir dire is no more prejudicial or unconstitutional than serial arraignment. The prosecutions below were <u>not</u> consolidated for trial.

As the trial court noted below, there is no practical difference between the multiple jury selection process and the single jury selection process. Regardless of whether juries are picked through a multiple or sequential process, the prospective jurors all come from the same jury pool and more prospective jurors are brought in if needed. Each defendant retains the same number of peremptory challenges in both systems.

Petitioner first complains that when a jury is picked for a subsequent case, the jury pool consists of some prospective jurors who were excused in previous cases. Petitioner argues that this result "undermines the integrity of the jury selection process by unfairly diluting the number of peremptory challenges available to defense counsel." (Petitioner's brief, p. 27). State disagrees. Normally, an excused prospective juror is sent back to the jury pool to participate in a subsequent voir dire. Here, the excused prospective juror merely remains in the courtroom instead of going back to the venire room. The number of peremptory challenges is in no way "diluted", as each defendant has his full number of challenges. A juror who was struck once may be struck again. Being struck or challenged does not render a prospective juror ineligible for service. anything, the multiple selection system benefits subsequent counsel as counsel has the benefit of already having observed voir dire of a good portion of the venire, who may be voir dired further by subsequent counsel. Counsel is aware that a prospective juror has previously been struck, as opposed to the sequential system where counsel is unaware whether or not a prospective juror from the jury pool may have been struck in a prior case.

Petitioner further contends that multiple voir dire violated his rights to due process and an impartial jury by giving the State an unfair advantage. Petitioner argues that "[b]y striking jurors themselves, prosecutors can guarantee that a juror who might be more favorable on the third defendant's case will come

back if stricken in cases 1 or 2." (Petitioner's brief, p. 28). This scenario is purely speculative and Petitioner does not even allege that this happened in his case. In any event, Petitioner ignores the fact that such a "strategy" would work both ways, and defense counsel could attempt such a "strategy" just as well as prosecutors could.

Next, Petitioner contends that "[c]ounsel for the defendants in cases 1 and 2 also become tools for the State by striking jurors who were less desirable defense jurors." (Petitioner's brief, p. 28). Petitioner reasons that because these jurors return to the panel in subsequent cases, subsequent defendants get panels composed of "reject jurors."

In the normal jury selection process the same thing occurs, but counsel is unaware of it. If anything, subsequent defendants here are at a greater advantage than normal due to this knowledge. Again, Petitioner's argument is speculative and ignores the clear observation that such a result would work both ways, i.e., would impact prosecution and defense equally. The State has no unfair advantage.

Petitioner fails to identify any aspect of the multiple jury selection process which violated his right to due process and an impartial jury. In fact, Petitioner affirmatively accepted his jury as constituted without reservation (T 175). He does not allege that any objectionable juror sat on his jury.

Petitioner also complains that the jury selection process was long and tiring. These complaints were not raised as error below and are not preserved for review. <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985). Even if true, jury trials are normally long and tiring.

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